STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Chester County

Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JERMAINE MARQUEL BELL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001500

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

FEB 04 2019

SC Court of Appeals

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial judge erred in allowing the decedent's husband and daughter to testify to the decedent's hearsay statements that she said she believed appellant was stealing her clothing, including her underwear, over appellant's objections, including Rule 404(b) and Rule 403, SCRE, and admitting the hearsay under the solicitor's claimed state-of-mind exception?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 16, 2016, a Chester County grand jury indicted appellant for murder. R. 528 – 529. On June 26, 2017, appellant was tried before the Honorable Paul M. Burch and a jury. R. 1. Candace Lively and Randy Newman represented the State. R. 1. William Frick and Justin Jones represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 525, ll. 7 – 12. Judge Burch sentenced appellant to life imprisonment. R. 526, l. 8 – 527, l. 3. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in allowing the decedent's husband and daughter to testify to the decedent's hearsay statements that she said she believed appellant was stealing her clothing, including her underwear, over appellant's objections, including Rule 404(b) and Rule 403, SCRE, and admitting the hearsay under the solicitor's claimed state-of-mind exception.

Factual Background

Very little evidence connected appellant to the decedent's death. Appellant was interrogated repeatedly for multiple hours and denied any involvement in the death of Judy Lindsay ("Lindsay"). R. 412, ll. 8 – 21. R. 127, l. 9 – 128, l. 21. Lindsay was found naked in some bushes behind an abandoned house an approximately two-or-three-minute walk from where she lived. R. 108, l. 9 – 109, l. 22. Drag marks led from her house to her body that were clearly visible to the K-9 officer who found her body. R. 108, l. 9 – 109, l. 22. Her common-law husband, Mitchell Mayfield ("Mayfield"), called the police on a Sunday morning after finding some of her clothing in the yard and following the drag marks into the grass. R. 23, l. 15 – 27, l. 10. Mayfield noticed the clothing in the yard when he went outside to burn his trash in a burn barrel, which he testified was part of his morning routine. R. 19, ll. 11 – 18. The burn barrel was still smoldering when the police investigated. R. 381, ll. 11 – 21. (Defendant's Ex. 1 and 3).

Lindsay died from a brutal manual strangulation. R. 168, l. 6 – 169, l. 4. She had injuries to her genitals and anal area. R. 166, ll. 9 – 22. When asked about the struggle, the pathologist testified about "signs of force" on Lindsay's inner arms and armpits, that there were "abrasions over the body" and she had bitten her tongue. R. 165, ll. 2 – 7. When the police interviewed

appellant for nine hours soon after they found Lindsay's body, they documented no injuries on him. R. 127, l. 9 – 128, l. 21. R. 210, l. 24 – 211, l. 8.

Appellant was a frequent social visitor to Lindsay's house. R. 62, l. 17 – 64, l. 11. He was friends with Lindsay's daughter, Jet, who lived at the house. R. 63, ll. 9 – 12. R. 62, ll. 11 – 12. Sometimes Lindsay did not want appellant at the house, but other times she would let him stay if he brought her a soda. R. 63, l. 20 – 64, l. 11.

The weekend Lindsay was murdered, appellant spent Friday night at her house. R. 65, l. 25 – 66, l. 5. Also staying at the house were Mayfield, Jet, and three children. R. 64, l. 21 – 65, l. 24. On Saturday evening, Lindsay, Jet, and appellant sat on Lindsay's porch, drinking, talking, and having fun. R. 67, l. 20 – 68, l. 16. Lindsay did not drink alcohol, but Jet and appellant were drinking. R. 67, l. 24 – 69, l. 11. Jet had called appellant over to join them and gave him a shot of liquor when he came on the porch. R. 68, l. 12 – 69, l. 11.

Around 12:30-12:45 AM, Jet went to bed. R. 70, l. 19 – 72, l. 12. Lindsay said she would come to bed soon after she smoked her last cigarette. R. 71, ll. 2 – 12. Jet went to bed and left appellant and her mother on the porch. R. 72, l. 13 – 73, l. 20. Appellant "was acting like his normal self" according to Jet. R. 71, ll. 13 – 14.

Mayfield had an argument with Lindsay on Saturday morning and denied seeing her the rest of the day. R. 20, l. 3 – 21, l. 21. Mayfield went to work and was already in bed when Lindsay returned from a church event. R. 21, ll. 7 – 21. He woke up the next morning around 5:00 or 6:00 AM. R. 22, l. 24 – 23, l. 5. He fixed coffee and went outside to burn his trash. R. 23, ll. 6 – 14. While burning his trash, he noticed Lindsay's scarf, socks, and shoes in the yard. R. 23, ll. 15 – 17. Mayfield said this "didn't seem right." R. 23, ll. 15 – 22. He assumed his grandchildren left them in the yard, so he went inside and awakened Jet to tell her to make the

children clean the yard. R. 24, ll. 2 – 11. Mayfield guessed he was outside by 7:00 or 7:15 AM. R. 54, ll. 20 – 23.

Mayfield assumed Lindsay spent the night in Jet's room. R. 25, ll. 2 – 17. When he awakened Jet, he learned Lindsay was not in the house. R. 25, ll. 13 – 17. Jet began calling people looking for her mother. R. 25, ll. 18 – 21. Jet "started freaking out." R. 74, ll. 14 – 19. She called friends and family members, including appellant. R. 74, l. 14 – 75, l. 3. She rode around with a family friend looking for her mother. R. 75, ll. 13 – 23.

Mayfield went back outside and noticed drag marks near Lindsay's shoes and scarf. R. 26, ll. 5 – 10. He followed the drag marks and saw Lindsay's keys and shirt. R. 26, ll. 19 – 24. He then called 911. R. 26, l. 19 – 27, l. 10. The first police officer on the scene was dispatched at 9:35 AM and arrived at 9:41 AM. R. 96, ll. 9 – 12. R. 91, ll. 18 – 19. That meant, according to Mayfield's timeline, at least two-and-a-half hours elapsed between when he was outside burning trash and noticed the clothing until he called 911. R. 54, l. 20 – 57, l. 7. Defense counsel cross-examined Mayfield about the discrepancies in his timeline. R. 54, l. 20 – 57, l. 7.

Once the police arrived and secured the scene, several people in the neighborhood came and talked to the police. R. 93, l. 11 – 95, l. 5. Appellant also came to the scene. R. 94, l. 16 – 95, l. 5. The police learned appellant was one of the last people to see Lindsay and asked if he would speak to them. R. 94, l. 16 – 95, l. 5. He replied, "No problem." R. 94, l. 16 – 95, l. 5.

A K-9 officer arrived and the dog found Lindsay's body within two or three minutes of being placed on the scent from the clothing in the yard. R. 108, ll. 9 – 11. Crime scene investigators collected the evidence from the scene and DNA swabs were taken from Lindsay's body and from the underarm portions of her shirt. R. 332, l. 6 – 388, l. 2. R. 266, l. 6 – 267, l. 12. R. 266, l. 5 – 267, l. 15. Also at the autopsy, the pathologist conducted a sexual assault

examination, collected fibers, clipped fingernails, combed pubic hair, and checked for body fluids. R. 166, l. 5 – 167, l. 15.

The State's best evidence against appellant came as a result of the DNA swabs of Lindsay's shirt and neck. R. 300, l. 2 – 310, l. 4. The SLED DNA expert used both STR DNA testing and YSTR DNA testing and concluded that appellant's DNA could not be excluded from a mixture found in these areas. R. 300, l. 2 – 310, l. 4. The probability of the DNA matching appellant on the swab from the neck was 1/10 for the STR test and 1/8600 for the YSTR test. R. 300, l. 2 – 310, l. 4. The probability of the DNA matching appellant on the swab from the shirt was 1/960 for the STR test and 1/8600 for the YSTR test. R. 300, l. 2 – 310, l. 4. The YSTR test only examines the male side of the chromosome and related males will have the same results. R. 300, l. 2 – 310, l. 4. The SLED expert admitted there is no way to know how long touch DNA remains on a person or object. R. 269, ll. 9 – 15.

During the multiple hours of interviews, the best evidence the police could muster against appellant was that he was inconsistent about where he spent the night and his choice of clothing. R. 428, l. 2 – 430, l. 14. Appellant never admitted any involvement in Lindsay's death despite the police using sophisticated interview techniques and lying to him about the evidence they recovered. R. 434, ll. 19 – 21. R. 432, ll. 19 – 22. R. 412, l. 8 – 417, l. 17. He denied the police would find his DNA on Lindsay. R. 436, ll. 20 – 21.

The police looked at several suspects in the case. R. 425, ll. 13 – 17. R. 422, ll. 15 – 17. They conducted forensic interviews of the children in the house and learned nothing. R. 398, l. 12 – 399, l. 11. They did "phone dump[s]" and found nothing. R. 403, ll. 11 – 14. They collected video from a camera across the street that showed a car drive "up and down the road with the lights come up" but could not see anything else nor identify the car. R. 204, ll. 3 – 21.

Ervin Chalk, who knew appellant and saw him earlier that day at a party, testified he saw appellant walking around at approximately 3:30 AM. R. 232, ll. 11 – 23. R. 233, ll. 16 – 21. Chalk said he only had three beers between 7:00 PM and 3:30 AM when he went to a party then to a club. R. 234, l. 4 – 235, l. 15. Darkarious Woods was a volunteer firefighter familiar with neighborhood who knew Lindsay’s family and appellant. R. 186, ll. 2 – 19. R. 193, ll. 16 – 22. He was driving in front of Lindsay’s house at approximately 1:00-1:30 AM and saw no one on her porch. R. 186, l. 15 – 189, l. 19. From his experience with the fire department, Woods knew “there’s a lot of activity going over there a lot, you kind of be on your P’s and Q’s and aware of your surroundings.” R. 188, ll. 7 – 12. Appellant came up to Woods’ car from the side of a neighboring house and asked Woods if his car was new. R. 188, ll. 4 – 23. Woods said this was weird because appellant had washed Woods’ car before. R. 188, ll. 16 – 23. Woods further described appellant as “jittery.” R. 193, ll. 1 – 7. Woods did not give a statement to the police until three days after Lindsay’s body was found even though he went to the scene while the police were investigating. R. 196, l. 4 – 197, l. 8. Mayfield was Woods’ uncle. R. 186, ll. 2 – 5.

After the police finished their investigation and released the scene, Mayfield called the police back because he found a plastic bag with Lindsay’s underwear. R. 31, l. 10 – 32, l. 13. R. 361, l. 16 – 362, l. 6. R. 374, l. 3 – 375, l. 20. (Defendant’s Ex. 9, 10). The crime scene investigator admitted that the bag’s presence was “odd.” R. 375, ll. 6 – 16. The bag was found near where the police recovered Lindsay’s body and the crime scene investigator said they did not see the bag during their hours at the scene. R. 370, l. 8 – 375, l. 13. Mayfield claimed he found the bag in the bushes where Lindsay’s body was found. R. 57, ll. 13 – 23. As defense counsel argued at closing, based on the bag’s location, if the police missed the bag then nothing they said was credible or the bag “showed up later.” R. 468, l. 15 – 469, l. 12.

The Objections and the Trial Court's Rulings

The State tied the bag of Lindsay's underwear to appellant through inadmissible testimony. R. 16, l. 18 – 17, l. 13. R. 78, l. 10 – 79, l. 5. Mayfield was the State's first witness and on direct-examination the following testimony and objections occurred:

Q. Now, getting closer to the time of September 2015, had any other problems arose regarding the defendant, Jermaine Bell, between you and your wife, Judy?

A. No. Now, at a point in time they—Judy had told me Jermaine was stealing.

Q. Someone was stealing?

MR. FRICK: Objection, Your Honor.

MS. LIVELY: Goes to the state of mind, Your Honor.

MR. FRICK: 404-B.

THE COURT: I'm going to give her a little leeway on it, I will overrule the objection. Go ahead.

MS. LIVELY: Thank you, Your Honor.

Q. So she believed that the defendant was stealing.

A. Yes.

Q. Stealing what?

A. Her glasses, money, cigarettes, clothes.

Q. But you didn't have any proof of this; is that correct?

A. Not then.

Q. Did you call the police?

A. Well, no.

Q. All right. But this was something that Ms. Judy had mentioned to you.

A. Yeah.

R. 16, l. 18 – 17, l. 15. The solicitor again elicited this testimony through Jet, the State's second witness:

Q. Now Jessica, did your mom have a problem—you've mentioned—I asked about him coming over to the house, did she have a problem with him just in general?

A. I don't know.

Q. Had she ever explained to you about anything that he had done?

A. Yeah, stealing stuff from her.

MR. FRICK: Objection, Your Honor, same as before, 403.

MS. LIVELY: Goes to the state of mind, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Overruled.

Q. What kind of items had she said—and I understand—did she ever call the police on him for stealing stuff in her house?

A. No, ma'am.

Q. But she—did she tell you that he'd taken stuff or she believed him to have?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. What were those items, do you remember?

A. Her glasses, underclothes, by underclothes I mean underwear.

Q. All right. Did you ever confront him about that?

A. No, ma'am.

Q. Do you know if your mom had?

A. I'm not sure.

R. 78, l. 6 – 79, l. 5. The solicitor repeatedly alluded to this testimony in closing argument, speculating that appellant had hiding places for what he stole and that perhaps appellant killed Lindsay because she “probably confronted him about her stolen items, maybe she was just sick

of it, unfortunately we will never know because he killed her. Maybe it was a sexual rejection, remember, we don't have to prove that." R. 498, ll. 6 – 10. R. 504, ll. 2 – 10. R. 510, ll. 14 – 15. R. 511, l. 23 – 512, l. 4.

Discussion

The trial judge erred in admitting the hearsay evidence that appellant was stealing from Lindsay under the state of mind exception. See Rule 803(3), SCRE. Furthermore, evidence of appellant's alleged prior bad acts are not admissible under Rule 404(b) unless proved by clear and convincing evidence. See Rule 404(b), SCRE. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 23, 664 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2008) ("If the defendant was not convicted of the prior crime, evidence of the prior bad act must be clear and convincing."). Finally, the hearsay allegations about appellant were substantially more unfairly prejudicial than probative. See Rules 403, 404(b), SCRE. Fletcher at 23-24, 664 S.E.2d at 483.

The State's claimed exception—state of mind—does not apply to the hearsay testimony about appellant stealing Lindsay's clothing. The state of mind exception, found in Rule 803(3), only applies to a statement of the declarant's "then existing state of mind, emotion, sensation, or physical condition. . . ." Rule 803(3), SCRE. It does not apply to "a statement of memory of belief to prove the fact remembered or believed. . . ." Rule 803(3), SCRE.

Here, Lindsay is the declarant. The hearsay statement is she believed appellant was stealing. Nothing in this statement meets the first part of the rule. It does not indicate that Lindsay was angry or scared or frustrated. Her state of mind is not revealed. The statement, however, falls squarely within the exclusionary part of Rule 803(3) because it is Lindsay's statement of belief to prove a fact remembered. Lindsay believed appellant was stealing—the fact remembered.

The interpretation of Rule 803(3) as preventing admission of facts showing the reason for the declarant's state of mind further demonstrates the trial court's error. State v. Garcia, 334 S.C. 71, 512 S.E.2d 507 (1999). In Garcia, two hearsay statements were challenged. Id. at 73-74, 512 S.E.2d at 508. The first statement was that the decedent said she got a bruise when the defendant kicked her. Id. The second statement was that the decedent said she was afraid of the defendant because he threatened to kill her and her family if she ever left him. Id. The Court held, "While their testimony presents circumstantial evidence of the decedent's fear of appellant and concern for her safety, the testimony improperly reveals the reason for her state of mind (i.e., that appellant had kicked and threatened to kill her)." Id. at 76, 512 S.E.2d at 509-10.

The Garcia Court quoted with approval United States v. Cohen, 631 F.2d 1223, 1225 (5th Cir. 1980)'s clear explanation of the exception:

But the state-of-mind exception does not permit the witness to relate any of the declarant's statements as to why he held the particular state of mind, or what he might have believed that would have induced the state of mind. If the reservation in the text of the rule is to have any effect, it must be understood to narrowly limit those admissible statements to declarations of condition—"I'm scared"—and not belief—"I'm scared because [someone] threatened me."

Garcia at 76, 512 S.E.2d at 509. Under this interpretation, had Lindsay told her husband or Jet she was afraid or angry, that hearsay would be admissible. However, the hearsay regarding appellant stealing is the inadmissible "reason for her state of mind" as shown in Garcia: See also State v. Daise, 421 S.C. 442, 460-61, 807 S.E.2d 710, 719 (Ct. App. 2017) (holding hearsay improperly admitted under Rule 803(3) because it was the reason for the declarant's fear of the defendant); State v. Hughes, 419 S.C. 149, 156-57, 796 S.E.2d 174, 178-79 (Ct. App. 2017) ("These statements were inadmissible because they not only revealed Victim's state of mind, they described the reasons for her state of mind."); Vail v. State, 402 S.C. 77, 87, 738 S.E.2d 503, 508-09 (Ct. App. 2013) (applying interpretation of Garcia and ruling declarant's statements

did not fit within Rule 803(3)). The trial court erred in accepting the State's argument that the testimony was admissible.

Even if the hearsay statements were somehow admissible under Rule 803(3), they were still inadmissible under Rule 404(b) as prior bad acts. The prior bad act is that appellant stole items from Lindsay. Prior bad act evidence is usually offered through the victim of the bad act, not hearsay. See, e.g., State v. Scott, 405 S.C. 489, 748 S.E.2d 236 (Ct. App. 2013) (holding that testimony of two prior victims of uncharged sexual abuse could testify about prior bad acts pursuant to Rule 404(b)). Assuming the State offered these prior bad acts to prove motive, the trial court made no finding that the proof that appellant stole items met the clear and convincing burden of proof. Fletcher at 23, 664 S.E.2d at 483. Nor could the trial court have found the State met its burden because the solicitor asked Mayfield, "But you didn't have any proof of this; is that correct?" and Mayfield answered, "Not yet." R. 17, ll. 9 – 11. Similarly, Jet never offered any evidence to prove appellant stole items but testified only to Lindsay's unsubstantiated belief. R. 78, l. 10 – 79, l. 5. Jet never confronted appellant about stealing and was unsure whether Lindsay had confronted him. R. 78, l. 10 – 79, l. 5. No one ever reported the alleged thefts to the police.