STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chester County
The Hon. Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-001500

RECEIVED

JAN 24 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JERMAINE MARQUEL BELL,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Chief Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 4806

P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 607
Lancaster, SC 29721
(803) 416-9336

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

More importantly, Judy had "a red/purple discoloration" from her neck upwards, as well as an abrasion on her forehead. *R. 157.* She also had bruising in areas on the left and right side of her neck (*R. 159*); she had blood in her mouth, and she had bitten down on her tongue, "deep into the muscle;" she had tears and scratches on her lips, which "correspond[ed] with pressure

from her lips onto her ... front[] teeth; and she had petechia, or pinpoint hemorrhages, on her inner lip. Dr. Collins took swabs of the areas of bruising on the neck. Additionally, Dr. Collins found both petechia and "very marked ... hemorrhage in the tissues that's over the white of the eye[s]." All of these findings indicated that Judy was strangled. *R. 160-62.*

All of the injuries that Dr. Collins observed appeared to have "occurred at or about the time of death." *R. 157-58.* Also, she opined that the strangulation took from "several seconds to several minutes." *R. 164-65.* Dr. Collins' internal examination of Judy's body confirmed that she had been strangled. There was bleeding in the strap muscles of her neck, which is only caused by strangulation, as well as "a massive amount of hemorrhage" in the tissues in the back of her throat along her back bone. Although it does not take a great deal of pressure to manually strangle someone, the findings in this case showed "a lot of squeezing" and a significant amount of force. *R. 163-65.* Dr. Collins opined that the manner of death was homicide, and that the cause of death was manual strangulation. *R. 168.*⁸

Based upon the information provided to Agent Nelson and her team's processing of the scene,

We thought that the initial struggle occurred over here and then that she was dragged along ... this route that we have seen through here and her body located here. One of the reasons why -- after talking to the pathologist, again why we notated that the rose bushes were of significance, she had a very long abrasion on the side, on the left side, and also there was abrasions on the front of her knees, her toes and feet had dirt and there was dirt kind of in her toenails. So we believed that she was drug face down to get that long scratch on her left side, as well as the shirt having -- being dirty and all the holes on the front of the shirt and the

⁸ Dr. Collins also performed a sexual assault examination. *R. 159.* She found an abrasion to Judy's pubic bone, tears and scrapes of the tissues outside her vagina on the left, and bleeding in the tissues around her rectum. The latter indicated force in that area. *R. 166.* Finally, there was no fecal matter on Judy's body, but Dr. Collins had been informed that feces was found at the scene and she explained that people often lose control of their bowels when strangled. *R. 167-73.*

abrasions on the knees, so we thought that she was drug face down along that path.

R. 368-69.

Jessica Stowe, a forensic serologist at SLED, looked at approximately thirty items that had been submitted for analysis in this case. No spermatozoa was identified on the vaginal swabs in the sexual assault kit. However, the vaginal, oral and rectal swabs all tested positive for the P30 enzyme, which is a component of semen. So, these items were forwarded for DNA analysis.

R. 257-60. Even though a swab of Judy's chin and mouth area was negative for spermatozoa and P30, she forwarded this swab for DNA analysis as requested. ***R. 262; 274.***

Ms. Stowe also received State's Ex. 143, which was the victim's shirt and keys. She forwarded cuttings of those areas of the shirt that tested positive for acid phosphatase, an enzyme found in high concentrations seminal fluid. Further, she submitted the swabs taken at autopsy for potential presence of touch DNA. ***R. 264-66.***

Lily Gallman is the forensic DNA analyst at SLED who processed the evidence submitted for DNA analysis in this case. ***R. 293-94.*** She had a known blood standard from the victim and buccal swabs from Mr. Mayfield and Bell.⁹ She also received swabs from the sexual assault kit along, swabs from fingernail scrapings, swabs from the victim's neck area, and swabs from the chain linked fence. She was asked to see if she could develop a DNA profile from the unknown items and to determine whether the DNA profile of the item(s) matched any of the known standards. ***R. 295-97.***

Short repeat DNA analysis (STR) of the swab from the victim's neck taken at autopsy reflected that it was a mixture of DNA and neither the victim nor Bell could be excluded. With

⁹Bell voluntarily gave a buccal swab for DNA testing on September 13th. ***R. 123-24.***

respect to Bell's DNA, the statistical probability of selecting an unrelated individual who could have contributed to the mixture was "one in ten." Because so much of the DNA present in this mixture was the victim's, Ms. Gallman performed a YSTR analysis, which only develops a profile based on the Y or male chromosome. YSTR testing reflected that the DNA matched Bell, and that the statistical probability "of randomly selecting an unrelated male individual having a YSTR DNA profile matching this item is approximately one and 8600." Mr. Mayfield was excluded from this mixture on both tests. *R. 300-307.*

The STR testing of the swabs from under the victim's arms and adjacent areas of her shirt revealed a mixture of at least two persons and neither Bell nor the victim could be excluded. The statistical probability of selecting an unrelated individual other than Bell who could have contributed to the mixture was "one in 960." The YSTR DNA profile of Bell matched the unknown DNA and, again, the statistical probability "of randomly selecting an unrelated male individual having a YSTR DNA profile matching this item was one in 8600. Again, Mr. Mayfield was excluded from the mixture on both tests. *R. 308-10.*

Ms. Gallman explained that since YSTR testing only focuses on the Y chromosome, anyone sharing Bell's paternal lineage could have left the DNA. *R. 305-06.* However, the State and the defense stipulated that "Tyjuan Bell, who is the biological brother of the defendant, was working on the night of September the 12th of 2015, and that he was not at the home of the victim, Judy Lindsay." See *R. 437-38.*

ARGUMENT

Bell's argument that evidence the victim thought he was stealing from her was inadmissible under Rule 803(3), SCRE, is not preserved for appellate review because he failed to present the same argument to the trial judge. Alternatively, this Court does not need to address the propriety of the trial judge's ruling because any supposed error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Bell argues for the first time before this Court that evidence the victim thought he was stealing from her was inadmissible under Rule 803(3), SCRE. Respondent submits that his argument is not preserved for appellate review because he did not present the trial judge with *any* argument that the challenged evidence was inadmissible under Rule 803(3), SCRE. Alternatively, Respondent submits that it is unnecessary for this Court to address whether the trial judge properly permitted this evidence because, at worst, introduction of the challenged testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

A. Events in the trial court.

Judy Lindsay's husband, Mitchell Mayfield, was the prosecution's first witness. The following exchange occurred on direct examination of Mr. Mayfield:

Q Now, getting closer to the time of September 2015, had any other problems [arisen] regarding the defendant, Jermaine Bell, between you and your wife, Judy?

A No. Now, at a point in time ... Judy had told me Jermaine was stealing.

Q Someone was stealing?

MR. FRICK: Objection, Your Honor.

MS. LIVELY: Goes to the state of mind, Your Honor.

MR. FRICK: 404-B.

THE COURT: I'm going to give her a little leeway on it, I will overrule the objection. Go ahead.

MS. LIVELY: Thank you, Your Honor.

Q So she believed that the defendant was stealing.

A Yes.

Q Stealing what?

A Her glasses, money, cigarettes, clothes.

Q But you didn't have any proof of this; is that correct?

A Not then.

Q Did you call the police?

A Well, no.

Q All right. But this was something that Ms. Judy had mentioned to you.

A Yeah.

R. 16, line 18- 17, line 16.

A similar exchange occurred on direct examination of Jessica Lindsay, Judy's daughter:

Q Now Jessica, did your mom have a problem -- you've mentioned -- I asked about him coming over to the house, did she have a problem with him just in general?

A I don't know.

Q Had she ever explained to you about anything that he had done?

A Yeah, stealing stuff from her.

MR. FRICK: Objection, Your Honor, same as before, 403.

MS. LIVELY: Goes to the state of mind, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Overruled.

Q What kind of items had she said -- and I understand -- did she ever call the police on him for stealing stuff in her house?

A No, ma'am.

Q But she -- did she tell you that he'd taken stuff or she believed him to have?

A Yes, ma'am.

Q What were those items, do you remember?

A Her glasses, underclothes, by underclothes I mean underwear.

Q All right. Did you ever confront him about that?

A No, ma'am.

Q Do you know if your mom had?

A I'm not for sure.

R. 78, line 6 – 79, line 5.

Bell did not further address his objections that the witnesses' testimony was inadmissible under Rule 404(b), SCRE, and, critically, he never made any argument at trial that their testimony was inadmissible as evidence of the victim's then-existing state of mind under Rule 803(3), SCRE.

B. Discussion.

Initially, Respondent submits that his argument is not preserved for appellate review because, while he did object to the evidence under Rule 404(b), SCRE, he did not present the trial judge with *any* argument that the challenged evidence was inadmissible under Rule 803(3), SCRE. It is axiomatic that a party cannot argue one theory in support of his objection or motion at trial and raise a different theory on appeal. *E.g.*, *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5-6, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989); *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) (“A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground”); *State v. Patterson*, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial”); *State v. Thomason*, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial

and a different theory on appeal”). Error preservation requirements are intended “to enable the [trial] court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). Because Bell did not present the trial judge with the argument he advances on appeal, his argument is not preserved for appellate review.

Alternatively, Respondent notes that this Court explained in *State v. Hughes*, 419 S.C. 149, 155-56, 796 S.E.2d 174, 177-78 (Ct. App. 2017), that:

“ ‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801, SCRE. Rule 803(3), SCRE, provides that a statement “of the declarant’s then existing state of mind, emotion, sensation, or physical condition (such as intent, plan, motive, design, mental feeling, pain, and bodily health), but not including a statement of memory or belief to prove the fact remembered or believed” is not excluded by the hearsay rule. Our supreme court has held that “while the present state of the declarant’s mind is admissible as an exception to hearsay, the reason for the declarant’s state of mind is not.” *State v. Garcia*, 334 S.C. 71, 76, 512 S.E.2d 507, 509 (1999). The court cautioned that “[i]f the reservation in the text of the rule is to have any effect, it must be understood to narrowly limit those admissible statements to declarations of condition—‘I’m scared’—and not belief—‘I’m scared because [someone] threatened me.’” *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Cohen*, 631 F.2d 1223, 1225 (5th Cir. 1980)).

See also *State v. Tennant*, 394 S.C. 5, 15-16, 714 S.E.2d 297, 302-03 (2011).

However, this Court need not address whether the trial judge properly allowed the State to introduce the challenged testimony as evidence of the victim’s then-existing state of mind because assuming without conceding its inadmissibility, at worst, introduction of the challenged testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, as were the inadmissible statements in *Hughes*.¹⁰

¹⁰ In *Hughes*, the Court observed that “[t]he improper admission of hearsay is reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice.” *Hughes*, 419 S.C. at 155, 796 S.E.2d at 177 (citing *State v. Weston*, 367 S.C. 279, 288, 625 S.E.2d 641, 646 (2006)). The Court found that

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). When an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006). Error that does not contribute to the verdict is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Fletcher*, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. *State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003); *State v. Wiley*, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) (“No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”). “When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” *Bailey*, 298 S.C. at 5, 377 S.E.2d at 584.

Here, the testimony of Mr. Mayfield and Jessica Lindsay did not constitute evidence of a prior bad act by Bell under Rule 404(b), SCRE. To the contrary, the testimony merely articulated the victim’s *suspicion* that he had stolen items from her. Both witnesses candidly admitted that Judy never called the police and complained of him stealing the items, and Jessica did not know

statements such as “[Victim] was not comfortable around [Hughes]. She had some concerns about his ... drug use and his lifestyle. And ... I do know for a fact that she talked about getting into some verbal altercations with him,” were inadmissible “because they not only revealed Victim’s state of mind, they described the reasons for her state of mind.” *Hughes*, 419 S.C. at 157, 796 S.E.2d at 178. However, the Court found that admission of the statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the challenged testimony was cumulative to other testimony presented at trial without objection and because of overwhelming evidence of guilt. *Id.* at 158-59, 796 S.E.2d at 179-80.

whether Judy had confronted him about her suspicions. See *R. 17, lines 5-13; 78, line 17 – 79, line 5.*

More importantly, the State presented evidence that Bell's DNA matched the YSTR DNA from the swabs of the bruises on the victim's neck where she had been strangled, as well as the DNA from swabs from under the victim's arms and adjacent areas of her shirt. Also, while any other male with the same parental lineage could have left this DNA, the parties stipulated that "Tyjuan Bell, who is the biological brother of the defendant, was working on the night of September the 12th of 2015, and that he was not at the home of the victim, Judy Lindsay." See *R. 437-38.*

The State also presented evidence that (1) the victim did not like Bell coming to her house, yet, he would always return; (2) Jessica testified that he was with the victim when she went to bed and, accordingly, was the last person known to have seen her alive; (3) a plastic bag with several pairs of the victim's panties and an ashtray that belonged to her were found in the same secluded area as her body and near her body; (4) when Jessica saw the black tennis shoes he had worn on the night of the murder at Mr. Weldon's apartment, they were muddy, as were the drag marks found at the scene; (5) when police seized these same shoes in a search of Mr. Weldon's apartment, the shoes were wet and appeared to have been washed; (6) Bell told shifting lies to law enforcing about where he had stayed and what he had worn on the night of the murder; (7) his lies were not only refuted by what the officers found or were unable to find, they were inconsistent with the testimony of Ervin Chalkin and Darkarious Woods, who had seen him on the 12th and/or the 13th; (8) when Mr. Woods saw Bell between roughly 1:00 and 1:30 a.m. on September 13th, Bell came "from the side of" the abandoned home next to Judy's

residence (*R. 187-88*); (9) Bell was “real jittery” when they spoke and asked Mr. Woods about his car, even though Bell was aware the car belonged to Woods; and (10) his claim in his statement to Det. Wade Young that he left the victim’s house when Judy went to bed around 12:30 or 1:00 a.m. was contradicted by the timeline provided to police by Brianna Lowery of September 13th. Ms. Lowery said that she had driven to Judy’s residence around 12:30 a.m. because she and Jessica were supposed to go out. The lights were off, the front door was open and the T.V. was on. Yet, no one came outside when she blew her horn. She saw Bell come from a house across the street. She asked where Judy and Jessica were, and he claimed that he did not know. *R. 205-06*.

Thus, viewing the challenged evidence in the proper context and in relation to the other evidence presented during trial, any error in the admission of the hearsay statements was harmless and did not warrant a reversal of Bell’s conviction. *Id.*

CONCLUSION

For the above-stated reasons, Respondent submits that this Court should affirm Bell’s conviction and sentence.